IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT NO.: 87,835

4 DCA CASE NO. 94-1049

DAVID R. BEACH and LINDA M. BEACH, his wife,

Petitioners,

vs.

GREAT WESTERN BANK, a Federal Savings Bank, a United States Corporation, f/k/a GREAT WESTERN SAVINGS,

Respondents.

TLED 変われて使用を

MAY 28 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_ Chief Degury Olerk

 $Hy_{i, \dots}$ 

FILED

017

SID J. WHITE

JUN 25 1998

CLEEK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS DAVID R. BEACH and LINDA M. BEACH

> JAMES A. BONFIGLIO, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 288055 P.O. Box 1489 Boynton Beach, Fla. 33425 (407) 734-4503, 734-1872 (fax)

## STATEMENT OF THE BASIS OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a District Court of Appeal that passes on and is certified as a question of great public importance. Art. V Sect. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; and Fla.R. App. Pro. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v).

> xvii US

## STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

The Beaches bought a vacant lot at 5870 Set N Sun Jupiter, Florida on June 22, 1981 (TT 41 L13-17, TT 39 Def. Ex.#1). They built a home with a Fidelity Federal construction loan (TT 41 L 16-25, TT 39-40 Def.Ex.#2,3,&4) and closed on December 4, 1985 (TT 39-40 Def.Ex.#2,3&4). The Fidelity construction loan modified a 30 year mortgage and incorporated a permanent loan secured by the home in 1 document (TT 39-40 Def.Ex.#2,3&4). Fidelity modified the initial disbursal by a construction draw, and required interest payments only during construction. The note automatically converted to a standard home loan amortized over 30 years on completion of the draws, beginning June 1, 1985 (TT 39-40 Def.Ex.#2,3&4). The Fidelity TILA DS, settlement statement, construction modification and draw agreement, good faith estimate, and other normal closing documents (TT 39-40 Def.Ex.#2,3&4) never mentioned GW. The Fidelity loan never involved GW. No one ever contacted or involved GW in the construction loan. GW never advanced funds for construction.

The Beaches completed the home, moved in, and made at least one mortgage payment to Fidelity before they applied to GW to refinance the loan (TT 41 L17-25, TT 40 Def.Ex.#6,7&8). GW refused the original credit application but approved a counteroffer for a \$97,300.00 variable rate loan on July 28, 1985 (TT 40 Def.Ex.#8) and gave a written commitment which included a 3-day right of rescission (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#8,12). The Beaches accepted GW's commitment with the rescission right requirement (TT 43 L 15-18).

GW closed the Beach loan on August 15, 1986 (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#1,2)

\* 46 after the Beaches completed construction, moved in, and made at least two mortgage payments to Fidelity (TT 39-40 Def.Ex. # 2,3,4,6 &9). GW provided a TILA DS, closing statement, a 3 day notice of right to cancel, and other closing documents (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#3,4,5,6, 7,13,14). GW charged the Beaches \$200.00 application fee, \$358.15 filing fees, including \$194.16 intangible tax, and \$1,813.65 in prepaid finance charges. GW took the face amount of the loan (\$97,300.00) and deducted the disclosed prepaid finance charges (\$1,813.65) to arrive at the DS AF of \$95,486.35 (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#3,4, 5,6,7,13,14). The DS disclosed the payment schedule as 12 at \$765.46 and 348 at \$755.23 (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#3).

GW placed an asterisk (\*) immediately following the disclosed figures in the APR, FC, AF, TOP, and Payment Schedule 348. The asterisk referred to "\*MEANS ESTIMATE" at the lower right hand corner of the payment schedule box (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#3,). GW placed "++" in front of the 8.75% APR and immediately below that referred to "++YOUR INITIAL CONTRACT RATE IS 8.75%." (TT 36 Pl.Ex.#3). GW's manual instructed closers to place asterisks after all figures except the AF and told the closers to place an asterisk next to the payment amount in the payment schedule. The manual also told the closers to place pluses next to the APR and refer to the initial contract rate. (TT 36 Pl. Ex.#9,10,11, TT Def.Ex#10).

GW presented the testimony of Mr. Greco. He recalculated the correct APR to 8.785%, not the DS APR of 8.82% (TT 50 L1-6). He recalculated because of a \$.58 error in the payment amount for the 348 payments (TT 50 L 21-23). The payment should have been \$754.65,

not \$755.23. This makes the FC understated by \$201.84 (TT 50 L 9-20). The TILA DS FC should have been \$176,317.37, not \$176,519.21 (TT 50 L 9-20) and the DS TOP erred by the same amount \$271,803.72, vs. \$272,005.56 (TT 52 L 3-8).

GW's payment history showed an index change every 6 months with a payment change every 12 months. The index record shows 10 changes, 6 increases and 4 decreases before default; original 10/86 8.75%, 4/87 8.35%, 10/87 8.85%, 4/88 8.71%, 10/88 9.21%, 4/89 9.71%, 10/89 10.21%, 4/90 10.27%, 10/90 10.32%, 4/91 9.82%, 10/91 9.32%. The payments changed as follows; original \$765.46, 10/87 \$756.46, 10/88 \$736.88, 10/89 \$764.17, 10/90 \$821.48, 10/91 \$882.34. The Beaches paid \$52,376.71 in payments and late charges to the date of default.

GW sued to foreclose their mortgage (ROA1-12). The Beaches answered and raised TILA rescission and damage claims as an affirmative defense (ROA 14-20). The matter went to trial (ROA 47-50. The court found and ordered: TILA governed the loan; GW made material disclosure errors with respect to the intangible tax, and the payment schedule; the loan was not one subject to rescission, and even if rescission appropriate, the limitation period expired; debt offset by statutory and actual damages; and a positive attorney fee to the Beaches attorney.

The Beaches asked the 4th DCA to review the portion of the order that; rejected rescission and refused to assess actual and statutory damages by the misstated variable feature. (ROA 75-100). GW did not seek review of the lower court's finding of material

TILA errors leading to the award of statutory and actual damages and fees to the Beaches.

The 4th DCA's divided opinion held rescission available under 15 U.S.C.1635 for the Beaches, but they could not rescind to defend a foreclosure after 15 U.S.C. 1635(f)'s 3 year limit and certified the question to this Court. The Beaches submit the dissent states the correct law. This Court should overrule the majority opinion, adopt the dissent, and allow a consumer sued for foreclosure after 15 U.S.C. 1635(f)'s 3 year limit to rescind under 15 U.S.C. 1635(b) and Reg Z 226.23 as a defense in recoupment after the 3 year limit.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## I. OVERVIEW OF TILA

Congress passed TILA to remedy false practices in disclosing true costs of consumer credit, assure meaningful disclosure of credit terms, ease comparison credit shopping, and balance the scales weighted in favor of lenders, achieving its remedial goal by imposing strict liability.

# II. TILA DOES NOT LIMIT THE RIGHT TO THREE YEARS

The unanimous cases reject the notion that the 3 year limit absolutely bars recoupment. Federal case law, State case law and the recent 1995 TILA Amendments show Congress rejects the Lower Court's divided majority opinion. The U.S. Supreme Court would allow the claim, adopting a 3 prong test for TILA recoupment claims after 3 years expires. <u>Beach</u> overlooked critical portions of TILA's history and the applicable cases in its contrary ruling.

TILA rescission as an equitable remedy, and not a penalty is

consistent with the purpose of disclosure. It is equitable to allow consumers to rescind in light of the TILA rescission remedy, when the consumer still has title. Congress limited the right to rescind to 3 years in 1974 only to prevent title clouds by ending post sale rescission. Congress did not address post-limit damage recoupment in 1974 because no split of cases existed.

Congress originally passed an unlimited right to rescind in 1968 and therefore originally examined and rejected a post 3 year limit as inequitable. Congress added the 3 year limit in 1974 because they were concerned with title clouds, not the monetary result of a post 3 year rescission on a lender. Congress would decidedly approve the monetary result of a post 3 year rescission after 1974 as long as the result does not cloud titles. Lenders get windfalls if the court lets them collect several years of mortgage payments, foreclose and dispossess Consumers and avoid rescission despite major serious TILA errors.

The 1995 amendments support rescission recoupment. The House Banking Committee's first TILA amendments made the 3 year limit an absolute bar to rescission and superseded any state law in the area. Congress refused, added recoupment as a compromise to the original TILA bill and intended to allow defensive rescission.

The legislative history shows Congress rejected the artificial "statutorily created right" doctrine and adopted the cases allowing post 1 year limit damages by set off or recoupment in 1980 which disapproves <u>Beach</u>. Congress in 1995 treated rescission limitation issue in the same way it treated damage limitation; by adopting

those cases that allow it and rejecting those cases that give any weight to the "statutorily created right" doctrine.

Congress passed the first meaningful TILA amendments in 1974 to deal with cases such that order rescission after sale as a cloud on the title to property after the sale. Title clouds occur because 15 U.S.C.1635(b) and Reg Z 226.23(d) reorder common law rescission when it returns the parties to the status quo. A return to the status quo requires the lender to get his old mortgage back, impossible if the consumer sold the property to a new buyer who put a new mortgage on the same property.

Florida is as expansive as Federal Law in allowing time barred defensive recoupment claims. Florida does not recognize distinction between a statutorily created right versus a common law right when the defendant raises his time barred statutory claim as a defense to a foreclosure suit. Modern banking rules would prevent a lender from holding a usury infected loan past 4 years to avoid the usury claim. The borrower charged with usurious interest also controls whether the lender can foreclose by not paying the loan.

These policy concerns did not prevent the Supreme Court from allowing a defensive time barred usury claim. The Court did not protect lenders based on these concerns but expanded liability after the limit runs by giving consumers affirmative recovery.

III. IMPOSITION OF THE RESCISSION REMEDY

# A. <u>A CONSUMER CAN ENFORCE IMPLICIT VESTING OF PRINCIPAL WHEN</u> <u>HE CORRECTLY RESCINDS UNDER 15 U.S.C. 1635 AND THE LENDER</u> <u>REFUSES TO HONOR HIS RESCISSION REQUEST.</u>

TILA's rescissory scheme requires that the GW mortgage was

void, and GW had to return charges within 20 days from when they received the Beaches affirmative defenses. GW at trial did not present any evidence to support a finding that they were entitled to equitably modify rescission by cancellation of the mortgage on return of the net debt owed, or offset GW's duty to return charges against the Beaches' return of principal. GW's failure to timely honor the rescission request and do the acts necessary to effect rescission results in the Beaches right to retain the principal.

# B. <u>THE CORRECT MEASURE OF TILA ACTUAL AND STATUTORY DAMAGES</u> FOR A MISSTATED VARIABLE FEATURE EQUAL \$1,000.00 AT EACH RATE CHANGE, AND THE AMOUNT OF INTEREST COLLECTED WHEN THE RATE CHANGES ABOVE THE DISCLOSED RATE.

TILA allows a Court to award statutory and actual damages under 15 U.S.C.1640(a) for disclosure errors in connection with all consumer credit transactions and damages for refusal to rescind. A consumer can receive actual and statutory damages and fees under 15 U.S.C. 1640(a) for initial disclosure errors, enforce his right to rescind under 15 U.S.C. 1635 for the same errors, and receive actual and statutory damages and fees for failure to properly respond to a consumer's request to rescind.

The rescission affirmative defense triggered GW's obligation to rescind in 20 days. 15 U.S.C.1635(b). The Beaches had a right to GW's TILA tender obligation on the 21st day after they delivered the TILA rescission affirmative defenses on GW's attorney. The sum was liquidated as of that date and the Beaches can collect interest on that amount.

#### ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY

#### I. OVERVIEW OF TILA

Congress passed TILA to remedy false practices in disclosing true costs of consumer credit, assure meaningful disclosure of credit terms, ease comparison credit shopping, and balance the lending scales weighted in favor of lenders. 15 U.S.C. 1601(a), Johnson v. McCrackin-Sturman Ford, Inc., 527 F2d 257,262 (3rd Cir. 1975), Smith v. Fidelity Consumer Discount Co., 892 F2d 896,898 (3rd Cir. 1990), Smith v. Chapman 614 F.2nd 968 (5th Cir. 1980), Rodash v. AIB Mortgage, 16 F3d 1142,1144 (11th Cir. 1994), In Re Porter, 961 F2d 1066 (3rd Cir. 1992), Semar v. Platte Valley Fed. Sav. & Loan, 791 F2d 699 (9th Cir 1986) Smith v Wells Fargo Credit 713 F.Supp. 354,355-356 (D.Ariz.1989).

Since TILA is remedial, courts expansively and broadly apply and interpret 15 U.S.C. 1635 to allow rescission, and narrowly interpret those parts of 15 U.S.C.1635 that limit rescission. James <u>V. Home Const. Co. of Mobile, Inc.</u>, 621 F2d 727,729 (5th Cir 1980), <u>Sellers V. Wollman</u>, 510 F2d 119 (5th Cir. 1975), <u>In Re: Underwood</u>, 66 B.R.656 (Bkr.W.D. Va. 1986), <u>Porter</u>, <u>Semar</u>.

TILA rescission gives consumers time outside closing pressures to weigh the credit terms and quietly reflect on whether they want to expose their homes to foreclosure based on the TILA disclosures. When lenders give wrong disclosures, consumers could never evaluate whether to risk foreclosure and loss based on the correct terms because the consumer never knew the correct terms. Given TILA's remedial purpose, the equities protect consumers from foreclosure

based on wrong terms rather than protect lenders from TILA errors. <u>Porter</u>, 1073, <u>Semar</u>, 704 <u>Smith</u>, <u>French v. Wilson</u>, 446 F.Supp 216, 219-220 (D.C. R.I. 1978).

Imposing liability after 3 years furthers Congress' purpose to protect consumers and encourage accurate disclosure. Post 3 year rescission liability forces lenders to: give correct disclosures; create 15 U.S.C. 1640(c) procedures to examine loans for accurate TILA disclosure; follow 15 U.S.C.1640(b) after finding violations. This furthers compliance and allows consumers to make informed credit decisions, ultimately protecting consumers.

Shielding lenders after 3 years frustrates TILA's purpose, encourages lenders to avoid correcting errors under 15 U.S.C. 1640 (b) after finding errors by holding mortgages for 3 years, then suing on default. Consumers would borrow from violative lenders who understate APRs and FCs and deter lenders from 15 U.S.C. 1640(c) compliance. A compliant lender could not compete with non-compliant lenders because his loan would be more expensive, which frustrates TILA's stated purpose, leading to misdisclosure, wrong information about true credit costs, and TILA non-compliance.

<u>Beach</u> refused to follow this Court's opinions that allow defendants to raise time barred statutory claims by recoupment after a statute of limitation expires. <u>Beekner v. L.P. Kaufman,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 198 So 794 (Fla. 1940), <u>Allie v. Ionata</u>, 503 So.2d 1237,1240 (Fla. 1989), <u>Rybovich Boat Works v. Atkins</u> 585 So.2d 270, 272 (Fla. 1991). <u>Beach</u> refused to follow the unanimous Federal opinions that allow defendants to raise time barred Federal statutory claims by

way of recoupment after a statute of limitation expires. Reiter v. Cooper, 113 S.Ct. 1213, 1218 (1993), Bull v. United States, 55 S. Ct. 695 (1935), Distribution Services Ltd. v. Eddie Parker Ints. Inc., 897 F.2d 811,812 (5th Cir. 1990), In Re Smith, 737 F.2d 1549 (11th Cir. 1984), Matter of Coxson 43 F3d 189,193-194 (5th Cir 1995), Silverman v. Eastrich Multiple Investor Fund, L.P., 51 F3d 28,31-33 (3rd Cir. 1995), F.D.I.C v. Medmark, 897 F.Supp. 511,514 (D.Kan.1995). [the Reiter cases].

Beach conflicts with Mobile Oil Corp. v. Shevin, 354 So2d 372, 375 fn9 (Fla.1977), Roberts v. American Nat. Bank, 115 So.261,263 (Fla.1927), Cadieux v Cadieux, 75 So2d 700,702 (Fla.1954), Ratner v. Arrington, 111 So.2d 82,84-85 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959), because it refused to follow unanimous Federal cases that allow post-limit recoupment of a Federal statutory cause of action. TILA rescission is an issue of Federal Law James p. 729, absent an express contrary intent by Congress. N.L.R.B. v. Natural Gas Util. Dist.Of Hawkins Co.,Tenn., 91 S.Ct. 1746, 402 U.S. 600, (1971), Smith v. No.2 Galesburg Crown Finance Corp., 615 F.2d 407,413 (7th Cir. 1980), Bowles v. Farmers National Bank of Lebanon, Ky., 147 F.2d 425 (6th Cir 1945), Heikkila v. Barber, 308 F.2d 558 (9th Cir. 1962). Cf. Wright and Miller, Fed. Practice and Procedure Sect. 1952 at 642.

The 1995 TILA amendments added 15 U.S.C. 1635(i)(3) (see <u>Beach</u> fn 1): "Nothing in this subsection affects a consumer's right of recoupment under State law." The amendment does not <u>limit</u> post-3 year recoupment to state law, but: 1) evidences Congress' intent not to bar recoupment; and 2) preserves post limit recoupment for

a consumer when raised as a defense to foreclosure in state court. <u>Beach's</u> majority refused to accept Congress in 1995 approved of recoupment in defense of foreclosure after the 3 year limit when Congress passed 15 U.S.C.1635(i)(3)[1995].

## II. TILA DOES NOT LIMIT THE RIGHT TO THREE YEARS

# A. THE OVERWHELMING CASE LAW REJECTS THE BEACH ANALYSIS

Beach grows more isolated as the overwhelming case law rejects the notion the 3 year limit absolutely bars recoupment. The TILA opinions expressly on the subject contrary to <u>Beach</u> are: <u>Dawe v</u>, <u>Merchants & Mrtg. Trust Corp</u> 683 P.2d 796 (Colo. 1984), <u>FDIC v</u>. <u>Ablin</u>, 532 NE2d 379 (Ill.App. 1988), <u>Community Nat'l Bank & Trust</u> <u>Company v. McClammy</u> 525 N.Y.S. 2d 629 (App.Div. 1988), <u>In Re Shaw</u>, 178 BR 380 (Bkr.N.J. 1994). After <u>Beach</u>, another appeal court wrote an opinion supporting <u>Dawe</u> and disapproving <u>Beach</u>: <u>Westbank v</u>. <u>Maurer</u> LEXIS 973 (App. Ill. Dec. 22, 1995). [The <u>Dawe</u> cases].

The divided <u>Beach</u> panel overlooked the fact every TILA case expressly on point expansively interpreted rescission and narrowly interpreted 15 U.S.C.1635(f) to allow recoupment after 3 years. The <u>Dawe</u> cases expressly allow the claim. The Supreme Court would allow the claim in <u>Reiter</u>, p.1218 adopting <u>Smith</u>'s 3 prong test for TILA recoupment after 3 years, as would the 5th Circuit in <u>Distribution</u> <u>Services Ltd.</u>, p.812, and <u>Coxson</u> p.193-194, the 11th Circuit in <u>In</u> <u>Re Smith</u>, the 3rd Circuit in <u>Silverman</u>, p.31-33, and <u>Medmark</u>, p.514 regardless of the claim's statutory or common law creation.

Beach rejected the <u>Dawe</u> cases and <u>Reiter</u> cases, relying on the legislative history of 15 U.S.C. 1635(f) compared to 15 U.S.C. 1640

(e) [1980] overlooking critical portions of TILA's history and cases examined and considered in the <u>Dawe</u> case and <u>Reiter</u> cases.

# B. HISTORY OF TILA LIMITATIONS

Congress imposed a 1 year limit for damages in 15 U.S.C.1640 (e)[1968]). Congress did not expressly allow post-limit recoupment for damages. 15 U.S.C.1635[1968] rescission had no time limit and thus did not need a post-limit recoupment provision.

Congress passed the first TILA amendments in 1974 to deal with cases like <u>Sosa v. Fite</u>, 498 F2d 114 (5th Cir 1974) [rescission after sale]. Congress added the limit only because of title clouds on land. TILA rescission reorders common law rescission when it returns the parties to the status quo. The lender cancels the mortgage and returns charges to the consumer. The consumer then returns the principal. <u>Williams v. Homestake Mrtg. Co.</u>, 968 F2d 1137,1140-1142 (11th Cir.1992). The parties can never return to the status quo if a consumer sells the home before he rescinds, more so when the same lender refinances the same debt and lends more money. see <u>Porter</u>. p.1075-1076. The status quo would require a lender to get his old mortgage back, impossible if the consumer sold the home to a new buyer who put a new mortgage on the same property.

In response to the now obvious title problems, 2 reports to Congress recommended a limit on rescission for the sole purpose to clear property titles. Congress added 15 U.S.C. 1635(f) in 1974 as a technical adjustment only to prevent clouds on title. see <u>James</u>, p.729 and <u>Beach</u> dissent. 1974 Congress did not address post-limit damages because no post-limit damage cases existed. Congress did

not need to address a problem that did not exist in 1974.

Since Congress passed the 3 year rescission limit to prevent title clouds, permitting defensive rescission after 3 years when the consumer still has title is consistent with TILA's express purposes in general, rescission in particular, and the 1974 3 year limit amendment; when the consumer still owns title, no title cloud exists for post 3 year rescission. Rescission can still protect consumers and return the parties to the status quo before the lien consistent with TILA and rescission's stated purpose.

Beach's treatment of the 1974 amendment as a statue of repose is inconsistent with the above history, the <u>Dawe</u>, cases, and the <u>Reiter</u> cases. Every TILA case on the issue interprets the limit as a statute of limitation not a statute of repose: <u>Moore v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 784 F2d. 632,633 (5th Cir 1986); <u>Felt v. Fed. Land Bank</u> <u>Ass'n</u>, 760 F2d. 209,210 (8th Cir 1985); <u>Rudisell v. Fifth Third</u> <u>Bank</u>, 622 F2d 243,246-248, (6th Cir 1980); <u>Stone v. Mehlberg</u>, 728 F.Supp. 1341, 1347 (W.D. Mich 1989). [the <u>Moore</u> cases].

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