ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT NO.: 87,835 4 DCA CASE NO. 94-1049

DAVID R. BEACH and LINDA M. BEACH, his wife,

Petitioners,

v.

GREAT WESTERN BANK, a Federal Savings Bank, a United States Corporation, f/k/a GREAT WESTERN SAVINGS,

Respondents.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 12 1996

CLERK.

Office Desuiv Glark

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 25 19984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, GREAT WESTERN BANK

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Beaches' right of rescission under 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) expired on August 15, 1989. The unambiguous language of 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) focuses on the expiration of the right to rescind. Principles of statutory construction require the Court to determine legislative intent from the language of the statute before focusing on the alleged purpose of the act. The cases relied upon by the Beaches fail to focus on that basic concept.

The clarity of § 1635(f)'s language is amplified by the standard statute of limitation language contained in § 1640(e) and the specific statutory authority set forth therein to assert damage claims after the statute of limitation runs if raised as a matter of defense by recoupment or set-off. This Court should not judicially insert the recoupment provision provided in § 1640(e) into § 1635(f) where Congress specifically chose to omit that provision.

The Court below correctly recognized that the statute both created, and established an expiration for, the right to rescind. Florida precedent concerning recoupment does not focus on similar statutory circumstances. Clearly, when the right and the remedy are created by the same statute, the limitations of the remedy should be treated as limitations of the right. The language of § 1635(f) compels this finding.

The Beaches seek to impose the draconian remedies of TILA, including a forfeiture of a right to recover principal. Relief of that nature can only constitute a penalty. Clearly, no harm to the



Beaches has been evidenced below. Such harm would be impossible to prove in light of the \$7.24 overstatement of the finance charge which is the end product of the trial court's findings and conclusions. Since the Beaches claim they are entitled to the same overwhelming remedy for these violations as they would have been if GREAT WESTERN had understated the finance charge by tens of thousands of dollars, it cannot be said that the recovery is in any way proportionate to the harm suffered. This Court should not extend this penalty beyond the timeframe established by Congress.

The Truth-in-Lending Act Amendments of 1995 did not create a right of recoupment and rescission. Congress did not embrace nor codify Dawe v. Merchants Mortgage and Trust Corporation, 683 P.2d 796 (Col. 1984) therein. The Beaches' misapplication of certain floor comments made at the time of passage of the amendments highlights the lack of any legislative history for their conclusion that Congress adopted **Dawe**.

Finally, the additional relief that the Beaches seek is not the subject of the question certified to this Court. Some of that relief was not requested below and has therefore been waived. remainder should not be available to the Beaches, or at best, should be the subject of a remand only if this Court reverses the 4th District's opinion. Instead, this Court should affirm the decision of the 4th District by responding to the certified question in the negative.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BEACHES' RIGHT OF RESCISSION EXPIRED

A. The Unambiguous Language Of § 1635(f) Must Be Given Effect

15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) states: the "right of rescission shall expire three (3) years after the date of consummation of the transaction or upon the sale of the property, whichever occurs first, notwithstanding the fact that the information and forms required under this section or any other disclosures required under this chapter have not been delivered to the obligor, ..." The language specifically focuses on the expiration of the right to rescind. There is nothing ambiguous about that language.

Where a statute is clear and unambiguous, a court need not resort to rules of statutory interpretation and construction. In re: Adoption of Baby E.A.W., 658 So.2d 961 (Fla. 1995), Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984). Despite the lack of ambiguity, the Beaches seek to establish legislative intent by asserting the remedial nature of the Truth-in-Lending Act and a liberal construction of this unambiguous section of the statute. Preliminarily, however, legislative intent must be determined from the language of the statute. Miele v. Prudential-Bache Securities, Inc., 656 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 1995).

Expiration is defined as: termination from mere lapse of time; coming to close; termination or end. Blacks Law Dictionary 519 (5th Ed. 1979). The mandatory expiration of the right after three (3) years is reiterated in 12 C.F.R. § 226.23(a)(3) and reinforced

in paragraph 23(a)(3)-3 of the Official Staff Commentary which states:

- 3. Unexpired right of rescission. When the creditor has failed to take the action necessary to start the three (3) business day rescission period running, the right to rescind automatically <u>lapses</u> on the occurrence of the earliest of the following three events:
 - The expiration of three (3) years after consummation of the transaction....

(Emphasis added.) Lapse is defined as: "to become void through lack of attention." The New Lexicon Webster's Dictionary of the English Language (556 Encyclopedic Ed. 1987).

Like Florida's courts, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that a court "must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress." Chevron U.S.A. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837 (1984). That intent is reemphasized by the language of Regulation Z and the Official Staff Commentary which is binding on the courts unless demonstrably irrational. Ford Motor Credit Company v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555 (1980). Nowhere in their Initial Brief do the Beaches recognize this basic principle of law, nor do they establish any ambiguity in the language chosen by Congress in establishing the expiration of the rescission right in 1974.

Instead, they rely upon <u>Dawe v. Merchants Mortgage and Trust</u>

<u>Corporation</u>, 683 P.2d 796 (Col. 1984) and its progeny: <u>Federal</u>

<u>Deposit Insurance Corporation v. Ablin</u>, 532 N.E. 2d 379 (Ill. App. 1988), <u>Community National Bank and Trust Company v. McClammy</u>, 525

N.Y.S. 2d 629 (App. Div. 1988) and <u>In re: Shaw</u>, 178 B.R. 380



(Bankr. D.N.J. 1994). In permitting rescission beyond the three (3) year period, the <u>Dawe</u> court reached the erroneous conclusion that Congress did not intend to limit to three (3) years, the existence of the substantive right to rescind. 683 P.2d at 799, fn.5. The court completely failed to recognize the basic precept that a clear and unambiguous statute should not be ignored. The <u>Dawe</u> court's treatment of the issue in a footnote, without analyzing the language chosen by Congress is simply unsupported by the language of § 1635(f) itself, the Regulation and Commentary and other provisions of the Act.

The language of § 1635(f) stands in stark contrast to the language of 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) which states:

Any action under this section may be brought in any United States district court, or in any other court of competent jurisdiction, within one year from the date of the occurrence of the violation. This subsection does not bar a person from asserting a violation of this title in an action to collect on the debt which was brought more than one year from the date of the occurrence of the violation as a matter of defense by recoupment or set-off in such action, except as otherwise provided by state law.

There are two significant distinctions to be drawn between § 1635(f) and § 1640(e). First, § 1640(e) focuses on the bringing of an action within one year. It is structured in the same manner as federal and state statutes of limitation concerning the vast majority of issues. Unlike § 1635(f), it does not speak of the expiration of a right, but instead focuses on the procedure of bringing an action. Secondly, it specifically provides, by virtue of the second sentence added as part of the Truth-in-Lending



Simplification and Reform Act, passed in 1980, that a truth-inlending damage claim can be raised more than one year after the occurrence of a violation as a matter of defense by recoupment or set-off.

The Petitioners ask this Court to either judicially insert that same provision in § 1635(f) or alternatively, recognize the addition of that language to § 1640(e) as mere surplusage by arguing that claims raised defensively should never be barred. The first argument fails to recognize that when Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute and omits it in another section of the same act, it is generally presumed Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16 (1983). See exclusion. also, Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc., 654 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1995) (when the legislature has used a term, as it has here, in one section of the statute but omits it in another section of the same statute, we will not imply it where it has been excluded). Thus, both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have recognized the impropriety of utilizing language in one section of a statute to create greater rights than those given in another section of the same statute.1

Even the dissenting opinion below recognized the reasonableness of the majority's interpretation of congressional intent by reading the provisions of TILA in pari materia based on a comparison of 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) and 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e). The dissent's reliance, however, on the 1995 Amendment to the Truth-in-Lending Act was misplaced as will be more particularly discussed in Section I.F. of this brief, infra.



The second argument would essentially render the second sentence of § 1640(e) meaningless. It is inappropriate to interpret a statute in a manner which will make some of its terms Mackey v. Ranier Collection Agency, 108 S. Ct. 2182, superfluous. 2189 (1988). Clearly, Congress determined that it was necessary to statutorily provide for the right of recoupment and set-off concerning damage claims under § 1640 when it passed the Truth-in-Lending Simplification and Reform Act in 1980. Despite the Beaches' reference to legislative history, they have failed to cite the Committee Report, floor statements or other recognizable pieces of legislative history which reference that statutory addition as a codification of existing law or in any way states that recoupment is applicable generally to any claim raised defensively.

Thus, both the plain reading of § 1635(f) and the existence of the recoupment and set-off language in § 1640(e) necessitate a recognition that the right to rescind under 15 U.S.C. § 1635 is forever lost once three years have passed from the consummation of the transaction.² To hold otherwise, requires the court to ignore the plain language of § 1635(f) and to insert in one section of the statute, language which was omitted therefrom but inserted in a

The sole exception, clearly set forth in the statute, is if an agency empowered to enforce the Act institutes a proceeding to enforce the provisions of § 1635 within three (3) years, finds a violation and the borrower brings an action based in whole or in part on that proceeding within one year of the conclusion of that proceeding.

separate section of the same act. To do so, the court would necessarily violate long-standing rules of statutory construction.

The Beaches insist that imposing liability after three years furthers Congress' purpose to protect consumers and encourage accurate disclosure. Such a public policy argument should have been made to Congress before it established any expiration. They also argue that Congress only really intended that the expiration be applicable upon the sale of the subject property. In essence, according to the Beaches, Congress did not mean to impose a time period for the expiration of the right. Thus, the Beaches either wish this Court to judicially strike the three year period from § 1635(f) or alternatively, conclude that their rationale, which has equal if not greater applicability to a borrower who is not in default, justifies the legislative activism of the judiciary sought therein.

B. 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) Is Not a Limitation On The Remedy, But An Expiration Of A Right

The federal decisions relied upon by the Beaches: Reiter v. Cooper, 113 S. Ct. 1213 (1993); Bull v. United States, 55 S. Ct. 695 (1935); Distribution Services Ltd. v. Eddie Parker Interests, Inc., 897 F.2d 811 (5th Cir. 1990); and In re: Smith, 737 F.2d 1549 (11th Cir. 1984); each relate to statutes focused on the time an aggrieved party may bring an action. In Smith, the court was focused on the specific language of 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) which, as the court recognized, requires that "any action under this section may be brought in any United States District Court, or in any other

court of competent jurisdiction, within one year from the date of the occurrence of the violation ...". **Smith** at 1552, n.6. Beaches (and the dissent's) heavy reliance on Smith is peculiar since the 11th Circuit therein specifically stated that it was neither necessary nor advisable, in the circumstances of that case, to decide whether a debtor generally may recoup TILA damages. Instead, the Court engaged in an academic analysis of whether the debtor could have satisfied the requirements set forth in Bull v. United States, 55 S.Ct. 695 (1935), if recoupment was applicable to In a footnote, the Court noted that Congress had her claim. already amended the statute to permit damage recoupment claims. Notwithstanding the new language, the Court steadfastly refused to even determine whether a damage claim, which arose prior to passage of the Simplification and Reform Act, for alleged TILA violations raised defensively, constituted a matter of set-off or recoupment. Nevertheless, the Beaches rely upon Smith for legal positions the Court refused to take and, as will be discussed below, argued that the propositions which **Smith** neither reached, nor was asked to reach, were adopted by the United States Supreme Court in Reiter.

In <u>Distribution Services</u>, the court was focused on Section 3(6) of the Carriage of Goods By Sea Act which discharged parties from liability unless <u>suit is brought within one year after delivery of the goods or the date when the goods should have been delivered</u>. <u>Distribution Services</u> at 812.³ In <u>Bull</u>, the limitation

Preliminarily, the Court examined the language of Section 3(6) in determining that it did not preclude recoupment.

at issue "forbade the bringing of any action". <u>Bull</u> at 699. As the Court below recognized, the focus in <u>Bull</u> was to prevent an unjust result. Therein, the Supreme Court viewed the retention of the estate taxes paid to the government through mistake as tantamount to fraud and the government's retention of those tax payments was unjust and immoral. Finally, in <u>Reiter</u>, under 49 U.S.C. § 11706(c)(2), a shipper "must begin a civil action to recover damages under [Section 11705(b)(3)] within two years after the claim accrues,..." <u>Reiter</u> at 1217-18.⁴ The Beaches' assertion that <u>Reiter</u>, <u>Smith</u> and the other federal cases upon which they rely, reject the notion that TILA rescission dies when the statute expires is baseless. There is no federal appellate level opinion which has specifically analyzed that question.

None of the above cases compared a limitation on the time to file an action with an expiration of a statutorily created right. While it did not specifically examine the issues involved herein, the decision in **King v. State**, 784 F.2d 910 (9th Cir. 1986) is more instructive. Therein, the court focused on both an attempt to rescind various transactions under 15 U.S.C. § 1635 and to recover damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1640. Initially, the court recognized that the limitation set out in 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) was absolute.

Despite the Beaches' assertions to the contrary, Reiter did not "adopt" or "embrace" Smith. The Court simply recognized that Smith and several other cases had understood that the case of United States v. Western Pacific Co., 352 U.S. 59 (1956) provided a general principle of recoupment which was applicable beyond its narrow holding.

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